STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

May 13 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

JEREMY JEROME KNIGHT,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001474

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution when he elicited improper opinion testimony from a police officer that the deceased's death was the result of murder and that Petitioner was the perpetrator because the testimony invaded the province of the jury, opined on the ultimate issue presented, and went to the heart of the issue before the jury – Petitioner's state of mind?

STATEMENT

In February 2002, Bryant Cheeks and Jerome Petty were living together in a duplex in Spartanburg County. App. 114, ll. 14-18; App. 138, ll. 21-24. On February 24, the two men hosted a “little get-together” for friends. App. 115, ll. 9-12; App. 139, ll. 9-13; App. 164, ll. 7-9. Miranda Aull and Petitioner attended. App. 116, ll. 1-14; App. 139, ll. 14-19. Petitioner had known Bryant for years because the two grew up in the same neighborhood. App. 116, ll. 9-12. Likewise, Petitioner knew Petty since elementary school. App. 139, ll. 20-21. Bryant was well acquainted with Aull as well because the two attended school together and her grandmother lived nearby. App. 116, ll. 15-25. The party-goers were consuming alcohol, and some, including Petitioner and Aull, were using drugs. App. 117, ll. 1-18; App. 139, l. 25 – App. 140, l. 11. Eventually, the party dwindled to Bryant, Petty, Petitioner, and Aull. App. 119, ll. 25 – App. 120, l. 5. Bryant and Aull had sex in Bryant’s bed while Petty was in his room and Petitioner was on the couch in the living room. App. 120, ll. 7-19; App. 141, ll. 15-18.

The following morning, Bryant claimed that he got up around 7:30 a.m. so that he could go to work with his brother, Michael Cheeks, who had arrived to drive Bryant to their common workplace. App. 123, ll. 15-25; App. 164, ll. 17-23. According to Bryant, Aull was awake and combing her hair when he left between 7:00 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. App. 123, ll. 16-19; App. 125, ll. 13-16. Petitioner was still asleep in the living room. App. 124, ll. 6-13; App. 125, l. 17 – App. 126, l. 1. Michael also claimed that he saw Miranda in the duplex that morning while he was waiting on Bryant to get ready for work. App. 164, ll. 22-25. According to Michael, Petitioner was on the floor in the living room at the time. App. 165, ll. 23-24; App. 171, ll. 6-17.

While Bryant was on his way to work, Petty’s mother called him looking for Petty. App. 136, ll. 3-9; App. 153, l. 14 – App. 154, l. 1. Upon learning that Bryant was no longer at the

duplex, Petty's mother went to the duplex in search of Petty. App. 154, ll. 2-9. Petty's mother found the door unlocked so she entered. App. 154, ll. 13-20. As she walked to Petty's room, she passed by Bryant's room. App. 154, ll. 21-24. She claimed the door to Bryant's door was slightly cracked open so she could see inside. App. 155, l. 12 – App. 156, l. 4. She further claimed that she saw Petitioner "laying across the bed on the left-hand side, eagle-like." App. 156, ll. 5-7. Petty's mother knocked on his bedroom door, but he did not answer. App. 156, ll. 17-19. She then walked into his room. App. 156, ll. 19-20. Petty awoke to his mother standing over him. App. 142, ll. 8-10; App. 156, ll. 20-22.

Petty's mother claimed that while she was talking to Petty, Petitioner left out of the room, slamming the door, and going outside. App. 157, ll. 8-10. Petty's mother followed Petitioner outside the duplex. App. 157, ll. 11-12. She alleged that she saw scratches on Petitioner's face. App. 157, l. 15. Petitioner then got into his car and backed out of the driveway. App. 158, ll. 2-3. Petty's mother re-entered the duplex and asked Petty if he had been in a fight. App. 158, ll. 3-5. Her question was prompted by "fresh scratches" on Petitioner's face. App. 158, ll. 6-11. Petty's mother then left. App. 158, ll. 12-13. As she was leaving, she saw Petitioner pull back into the yard and knock on the door. App. 158, ll. 14-24.

According to Petty, Petitioner was in the yard when Petty got out of bed. App. 142, ll. 21-23. Petty then left to go to his mother's house. App. 143, ll. 16-17.

When Bryant got off from work, he and Michael drove to Petty's mother's house to pick up Petty. App. 128, ll. 1-14; App. 143, l. 23 – App. 144, l. 13; App. 168, ll. 1-9. The threesome then went to the duplex. App. 128, l. 25 – App. 129, l. 3; App. 144, ll. 14-15; App. 168, ll. 19-21; App. 174, ll. 3-4 (in contrast to others, Michael claimed that Petty's brother, Jason, was with them when Aull's body was found). Bryant found Aull on his bed. App. 129, ll. 15. When

Bryant touched Aull's wrist, he discovered she was cold. App. 129, ll. 18-21; App. 144, ll. 16-21 (Petty claimed he touched her hand and it was cold); App. 169, ll. 23-25 (Michael also claimed he touched her and found that she was cold). Michael and Petty joined Bryant in his room. App. 129, ll. 1-3; App. 144, ll. 16-21; App. 169, ll. 7-20. Although Bryant had a cell phone, Petty walked to his mother's house to call for help. App. 130, ll. 3-9; App. 136, ll. 10-11; App. 144, ll. 22-25; App. 151, ll. 7-8; App. 170, ll. 4-6.

Around 3:30 p.m., emergency medical personnel were dispatched to the home. App. 105, l. 25 – App. 106, l. 1. Petty was unable to tell the medical professionals Aull's last name. App. 109, l. 20 – App. 110, l. 1. He simply described Aull as a friend of a friend. App. 109, l. 20 – App. 110, l. 1. Unfortunately, Aull was already dead when the medical professionals arrived. App. 106, ll. 14-23. The first responders found no trauma on Aull's body, however. App. 110, ll. 9-11. Ultimately, the pathologist determined Aull died as a result of asphyxia, secondary to manual strangulation. App. 297, ll. 25-30. He explained that “[i]t takes very little pressure to occlude the carotid arteries which run up beside the neck to stop the blood flow. It takes about six pounds of pressure.” App. 298, ll. 6-8.

Later that night, the police arrested Petitioner. App. 203, ll. 16-19; App. 204, ll. 7-15. In the very late hours of the night, the police interrogated Petitioner regarding Aull's death. App. 206, ll. 18-23. Petitioner told the police about the party he attended at the home of Bryant and Petty. App. 213, ll. 21-24. He also told the police that Aull first went to bed with Petty. App. 214, ll. 9-10. Completely naked, she left Petty's bed and went to Bryant's bed. App. 214, ll. 10-12. When he awoke, he tried to talk to Aull about her conduct. App. 214, ll. 19-23. Aull was not receptive to Petitioner's advice and cursed at him. App. 214, ll. 23-24. Aull scratched him.

App. 215, l. 1.¹ Petitioner then used one of his forearms across her neck to hold her down. App. 215, ll. 2-4. Aull continued to argue with Petitioner and scratched him again. App. 215, ll. 4-6. Petitioner got up and left. App. 215, ll. 7-8. He saw Aull was crying as he left. App. 215, ll. 8-9.

Shortly after Petitioner gave this statement to police, another investigator, Steve Denton, grew dissatisfied with what Petitioner said and wanted to continue the interrogation. App. 241, l. 16 – App. 244, l. 4. Denton claimed he confronted Petitioner with what he considered inconsistencies between Petitioner’s statement to police and what Denton found while he was at the morgue. App. 247, ll. 12-25. During this second interrogation, Petitioner told Denton that he was trying to caution Aull about her conduct, but she did not want to hear what he had to say. App. 250, ll. 17-21. Denton claimed that Petitioner changed his story:

When she wouldn’t listen and turned her back, I tried to turn her around so she couldn’t turn her back again so she could hear what I had to say. I held her shoulders down. She got physical back. That’s when the matter got out of hand. At that point I began to choke her with one hand. When she scratched me, she began squeezing my face. I began to use both hands to choke her. I wanted her to hear what I had to say. I felt disappointment, let down. I had put so much into the friendship. I let her go before she stopped breathing. She took a deep breath. She was gasping for air. At that point I was scared. I realized she was not breathing. I then began to pray and do C.P.R. I didn’t now if I was doing it right. I tried. I covered her all the way up except her head. I was very scared. I didn’t know what to do.

App. 251, ll. 2-14.

On April 11, 2002, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2002-GS-42-1401). App. 573-574. The state, represented by Harold W. Gowdy, III, and Susan Olmert, called the case to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury on July 8-10, 2002. App. 1. Karen Quimby and Michael Bartosh represented Petitioner. App. 1.

¹ Petitioner’s DNA was found in Aull’s fingernail scrapings. App. 232, l. 22 – App. 234, l. 23.

Trial counsel requested the judge instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter, but the state opposed the request. The state argued there was no evidence that Petitioner acted in the heat of passion or based upon sufficient legal provocation. App. 324, l. 2 – App. 325, l. 22. Judge Cole reviewed Petitioner’s statement to police. App. 326, ll. 18-20. Thereafter, the judge denied the request for an instruction on voluntary manslaughter. App. 327, ll. 1-22. The judge’s ruling hinged on his interpretation of Petitioner’s statement – that Petitioner engaged in a physical assault first. App. 327, ll. 1-22; App. 328, l. 3 – App. 329, l. 2.

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 374, ll. 22-25. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP). App. 378, l. 22 – App. 379, l. 2; App. 575.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Joseph L. Savitz, III. App. 381-390. On appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial judge’s failure to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter based upon the evidence presented. App. 381-390. On February 18, 2004, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. State v. Knight, 2004-UP-105 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 18, 2004); App. 391-395.

On February 23, 2005, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 396-401. The matter proceeded to a hearing on September 18, 2006, before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. App. 407. C. Kevin Miller represented Petitioner. App. 407. S. Prentiss Counts and Paula Magargle represented the state. App. 407. The record was left open to allow the parties to depose appellate counsel. App. 434, ll. 12-24. Miller was placed on interim suspension on March 7, 2012. App. 543. This Court disbarred Miller on January 2, 2014. App. 543. Thereafter, the circuit court appointed Susannah Ross to represent Petitioner in his PCR action on September 14, 2018. App. 543-544. Ross moved for a de novo evidentiary hearing in

the case. App. 544. On February 24, 2019, the court ordered a de novo hearing on Petitioner's PCR application. App. 544.

On May 7, 2019, Petitioner filed an amended application. App. 437-438. A de novo hearing was held before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, on May 14, 2019. App. 439. Ross represented Petitioner, and Jacob Isenberg represented the state. App. 439. By an order filed August 23, 2019, Judge Hayes denied relief to Petitioner. App. 543-572.

Petitioner served his notice of appeal on August 29, 2019. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution when he elicited improper opinion testimony from a police officer that the deceased's death was the result of murder and that Petitioner was the perpetrator because the testimony invaded the province of the jury, opined on the ultimate issue presented, and went to the heart of the issue before the jury – Petitioner's state of mind.

Relevant facts

During the cross-examination of Steve Denton, the police investigator who obtained the highly incriminating statement from Petitioner, trial counsel questioned Denton about his interrogation techniques. App. 253, l. 18 – App. 255, l. 17. Thereafter, trial counsel asked whether Denton was familiar with Petitioner's first statement to police prior to his interrogation of Petitioner. App. 255, l. 25 – App. 256, l. 6. Trial counsel asked whether Denton "felt it wasn't enough." App. 256, l. 7. Denton responded, "I felt if it was the truth, it was plenty enough. I don't know how you quantitate that - - enough." App. 356, ll. 8-9. The following exchange took place thereafter:

Q Well, you didn't think that it was sufficient that it was a confession that he had strangled Miranda Aull?

A Again, I am not sure what your question is. As far as looking at the statement and looking at the body and seeing the inconsistencies, is when I certainly had a problem.

Q Seeing they didn't go far enough?

A I am not characterizing it - - I'm not sure what you are asking.

Q Well, what is it that you wanted him to tell you?

A The truth.

Q Well, what did you believe the truth to be?

A Only he knew that.

Q Well, what did you think it was?

A I don't have an opinion on what the truth is. I wasn't there and didn't commit the murder. Only the person that did could tell me that, and he did.

App. 255, ll. 10-25. Trial counsel did not object or move to strike Denton's characterization of Aull's death as a murder, his opinion that Petitioner was the perpetrator, or his opinion that Petitioner acted with malice.

After noting that Bartosh, who was trial counsel conducting the cross-examination of Denton had died prior to the PCR hearing and was unable to provide testimony regarding this line of questioning, the PCR judge found that based on the transcript it appeared trial counsel "decided to stick with his line of questioning on the Denton's identification of inconsistencies." App. 562. Remarking that "[i]t would have be[en] unusual for [trial counsel] to object to a question he elicited" and that "a motion to strike along with a curative instruction would have been the more practice route," the PCR judge found "this may have brought unnecessary attention to the testimony." App. 562.

According to the PCR judge, the jury heard the confession and the solicitor only mentioned Denton in closing to argue that Petitioner understood his rights prior to confessing. App. 562. Thus, the PCR judge concluded, "Denton's importance to this case was merely to reflect the confession was voluntary." App. 562. Based upon these findings, the PCR judge concluded there was no reasonable probability that a jury would have doubted guilt if the singular opinion had been struck from the record. App. 562. Accordingly, the PCR judge found

Petitioner suffered no prejudice from trial counsel's eliciting the damaging testimony and failing to move to strike. App. 562.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); see also Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of

performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

“If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ testimony in the form of opinion or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or determination of fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training.” Rule 701, SCRE. “Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact.” Rule 704, SCRE.

This Court addressed a similar issue the year prior to Petitioner’s trial. State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001). A police officer testified that in his opinion, the deceased was “astride the bike when shot.” Id. at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The officer was qualified as an expert in crime scene process and fingerprint identification. Id. “As such, he was qualified to testify, as he did, to measurements taken at the scene, to the recovery of shell casings, and to the identification of blood stains.” Id. However, “[h]e exceeded the scope of his expertise when he was permitted ... to impart to the jury his conclusion, drawn from these measurements and observations, regarding the location of the victim and the position of his body vis-à-vis the bicycle at the time of the shooting.” Id. at 177-178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. This Court held the officer “was allowed to give his opinion on the ultimate issue: Whether [Ellis] was acting in self-defense when he shot and killed the victim.” Id. at 178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. “This was error.” Id.

Further, this Court held the testimony was not harmless in light of Ellis’s assertion that he was acting in self-defense. Id. “An officer’s improper opinion which goes to the heart of the case is not harmless.” Id. According to this Court, the error in allowing the officer’s testimony,

which exceeded the scope of his expertise and involved the ultimate issue in the case, was compounded by the solicitor's closing argument in which he repeatedly referred to the scientific testimony offered by the officer. Id.

This Court recently addressed the admissibility of a forensic pathologist's testimony regarding the manner of death. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417-418 (2011). In that case, the pathologist testified the deceased's manner of death was homicide. Id. at 263, 721 S.E.2d at 418. After explaining that pursuant to statutory law, "the testimony that an individual died from 'homicide' means simply that he or she died by the act, procurement, or omission of another without regard to the criminality of the killing or culpability of the killer," this Court noted that it was "well-established in South Carolina that a medical professional, qualified as an expert, may render an opinion concerning the scientific bases of a victim's injuries or death in a criminal trial." Id. at 265, 721 S.E.2d at 419 (internal quotations omitted). This Court concluded that a qualified expert may testify as to cause and manner of death. Id. at 266, 721 S.E.2d at 419.

However, the pathologist relied upon anecdotal history – the information from the police – to form the basis of his opinion. Id. Although this Court held the pathologist could testify about anecdotal evidence and give his opinion on reliance of such evidence, this Court recognized that "in certain circumstances, expert medical testimony of this type has the potential to invade the province of the jury." Id. at 267-268, 721 S.E.2d at 420. Thus, this Court held that "an expert in forensic pathology's opinion testimony as to cause and manner of death is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, so long as the expert does not opine on the criminal defendant's state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not

permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant's guilt or innocence.” Id. at 269, 721 S.E.2d at 421.

In a case similar to Commander, supra, the Court of Appeals addressed impermissible opinion testimony from a trial arising out of Spartanburg County, just as Petitioner's. State v. Westmoreland, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2017). The coroner testified he concluded the manner of death was homicide. Id. at 418, 807 S.E.2d at 705. The Court of Appeals held the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the coroner's testimony because it was “improper opinion testimony by a lay witness.” Id. at 418, 807 S.E.2d at 706. The coroner's opinion as to manner of death “was not based on his perceptions.” Id. at 419, 807 S.E.2d at 706. Instead, his opinion “was based on the findings of the pathologist and the investigation of law enforcement.” Id. at 419-420, 807 S.E.2d at 706. The Court of Appeals held the coroner's testimony that the death was a homicide, which he defined as an intentional act, was an opinion on Westmoreland's state of mind and, thus, his guilt under the circumstances of the case. Id. at 421, 807 S.E.2d at 707.

The Court held the coroner's testimony was not harmless because it “went to the trial's main issue regarding murder and went to the heart of [Westmoreland]'s defense.” Id. The error “could reasonably have affected the result of the murder conviction by commenting on the main issue to be decided by the jury and discrediting [Westmoreland]'s main defense.” Id. at 422, 807 S.E.2d at 707. Based upon the evidence presented “the main issue for the jury to decide regarding the murder indictment was whether the incident was the result of an intentional act or an accident. Such a determination likely would have been the deciding factor when assessing whether [Westmoreland] acted with malice aforethought, which was an essential element of murder.” Id. at 423, 807 S.E.2d at 707. The coroner told the jurors that “any death presents five

options: natural, accident, homicide, suicide, and undetermined.” Id. He also told the jurors that homicide requires an intentional act. Id. Finally, he testified that he ruled the case a homicide and ruled out the other possible manners of death, which included accident. Id. Thus, the coroner’s testimony went directly to the main issue during trial and the heart of [Westmoreland]’s defense that the incident was an accident.” Id. at 423, 807 S.E.2d at 708.

In the present case, trial counsel performed deficiently by eliciting the improper and damaging testimony from Denton. Further, trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to object and/or move to strike the testimony. Denton told the jurors that Aull’s death was a murder. He also told the jurors that Petitioner was the culprit. Thus, he improperly opined that Petitioner was the person who committed the offense and that his state of mind at the time of the commission of the offense was malice. Denton’s testimony was improper opinion testimony that went to the heart of the case.

Contrary to the PCR judge’s finding that trial counsel’s error was not prejudicial because Denton’s role was limited to establishing that Petitioner’s statement to police was voluntary, Denton’s improper opinion testimony was very prejudicial to Petitioner. As this Court previously held, “[a]n officer’s improper opinion which goes to the heart of the case is not harmless.” State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001). The sole issue for the jury was whether Petitioner acted with malice. Denton invaded the province of the jury and opined on the ultimate issue when he informed them that Petitioner had acted with malice because he described the death as murder. There was simply no escaping the import of Denton’s improper testimony on the jury.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order full briefing on the issue presented. In the event this Court grants the petition and dispenses with briefing, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court reverse the PCR judge, grant Petitioner relief, and order a new trial.