RECEIVED

Aug 27 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY

J. Mark Hayes, II, PCR Judge
J. Derhman Cole, PCR Judge

JEREMY JEROME KNIGHT,

PETITIONER

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001474

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM H. RAY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104476

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object or move to strike testimony elicited on cross-examination from an investigating officer who briefly referred to the crime as “murder” while explaining his particular interrogation techniques, where there is no reasonable probability the jury would have acquitted Petitioner of murder but for this testimony in light of the strong evidence establishing Petitioner was guilty of murder, including but not limited to his confession.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred in denying him relief because he received ineffective assistance of counsel. Specifically, Petitioner argues that his trial counsel elicited statements that invaded the province of the jury, opined on the ultimate issue presented, and went to the heart of the issue before the jury—Petitioner’s state of mind, and subsequently failed to object to these statements. Petitioner claims that trial counsel’s failure to object to the witness’s response to his own line of questioning amounts to a violation of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to effective assistance of counsel and therefore warrants a new trial. This argument is without merit.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in *Strickland* to

determine whether counsel's conduct "was so ineffective as to require reversal" of the applicant's conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. First, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. *Id.* at 669, 2056; *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In order to prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Judicial scrutiny of trial counsel's performance must be highly deferential, and a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065.

Trial counsel is required during any trial to make split-second decisions on many subjects, including whether to object to testimony. *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 383, 798 S.E.2d 561, 568 (2017). Trial counsel may employ a strategy of not objecting—even when there is a good argument for exclusion—if counsel reasonably perceives the benefits of doing so are outweighed by some other consideration. *Id.* See *Watson v. State*, 370 S.C. 68, 72-73, 634 S.E.2d 642, 644 (2006) (overruled on other grounds by *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836).

The second, or "prejudice" prong of *Strickland* is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691-92, 104 S.Ct. at 2066-67. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel's deficient performance

prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2067. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” *Id.* at 687, at 2064.

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Id.* at 696, at 2069. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” *Id.* at 697, at 2069. The court “need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. *Id.* If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. *Id.*”

Murder is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied. S.C. Code Ann. 16-3-10. Long ago this Court approved of a jury instruction defining “malice” as:

A wicked condition of the heart. It is a wicked purpose. It is a performed purpose to do a wrongful act, without sufficient legal provocation; and in this case it would be an indication to do a wrongful act which resulted in the death of this man, without sufficient legal provocation, or just excuse, or legal excuse.

State v. Gallman, 79 S.C. 229, 60 S.E. 682, 686 (1908); *State v. Heyward*, 197 S.C. 371, 15 S.E.2d 669, 671 (1941); *State v. Judge*, 208 S.C. 497, 505, 38 S.E.2d 715, 719 (1946). “In its legal sense, as it is employed in the description of murder, [‘malice’] does not of necessity import ill-will toward the individual injured, but signifies rather a general malignant recklessness of the lives and

safety of others.” *Heyward*, 197 S.C. 371, 15 S.E.2d 669, at 671; *Judge*, 208 S.C. at 505, 38 S.E.2d at 719. Evidence that the pressure on a strangulation victim’s neck was “intense enough, or lasted long enough, to causes hemorrhages in the whites of both of her eyes” and bruises to her neck has been found to be sufficient to support a finding of malice. See *State v. Ballington*, 346 S.C. 262, 272, 551 S.E.2d 280, 285 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001) (overruled on other grounds, See *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009)).

The trial transcript in this case demonstrates that Officer Denton’s statements were only used for very limited purposes. There is no reasonable probability that Petitioner’s trial counsel’s failure to object to the testimony would have resulted in a different trial outcome. Petitioner voluntarily gave two sworn statements to Investigators Jason Yown and Steve Denton in consecutive days where he confessed to the crime. Petitioner’s DNA was found underneath the deceased victim’s fingernails. Petitioner confessed in his written statements that the victim had scratched him in the face while he was strangling her. The jury also heard testimony from four witnesses who placed Petitioner at the scene of the crime, wearing a wooden bead necklace, the morning Miranda Aull was killed. Jerome Petty stated that Petitioner had been left alone at the scene the morning the crime was committed. Brenda Petty testified that she saw Petitioner lying in the bed where Miranda Aull’s body was found with fresh scratches on his face. This was likely just moments after she had been killed. Finally, one of the first investigators to process the crime scene found wooden beads and a broken necklace in Miranda Aull’s hands, underneath her body, and on the floor by the bed where she had been strangled to death.

In his closing argument, Solicitor Gowdy used Officer Denton’s testimony only to highlight the voluntariness of Petitioner’s second confession and to describe his actions and whereabouts after the killing of Miranda Aull, rather than to show Petitioner’s state of mind at the

time the crime was committed. (App. 341, 9-16; App. 342, 17-23). Likewise, Petitioner's trial counsel only mentioned Officer Denton's testimony to attack the confession and the circumstances under which it was given. (App. 348, 13-22).

The limited use of Officer Denton's testimony distinguishes it from Petitioner's supporting authorities. Unlike a case where an officer testified to the location of a body thereby suggesting that a killing could not have been self-defense, the testimony here was not related to the appearance of the scene, his expertise, or any exculpatory defense that could have been raised. *See State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001). This testimony is also unlike a case where a forensic pathologist or coroner determined the manner of a person's death based on anecdotes or opinions provided by police officers. *See State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011); *See also State v. Westmoreland*, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2017). Unlike those cases where improper statements on an ultimate issue were used to show a defendant's state of mind, Officer Denton's entire testimony was largely used only to show that Petitioner voluntarily confessed.

Petitioner recognizes that the abundance of evidence present at trial narrowed the jury's decision down to a sole determination of whether he acted with malice. However, Petitioner's assertion that malice was only shown by Officer Denton's use of the word "murder" or the phrase "he did [it]" is without merit. A jury could find malice in Petitioner's statements that he forced her into a fight for her life because he was "upset" with her, that he "felt disappointment, let down" and "wanted her to hear what [he] had to say." Malice could be found in the way Petitioner slammed the door as he walked out of the house, causing Brenda Petty to worry that he may have been fighting with her son. A jury could find malice from the fact that the victim had sex with at least one, if not both, of the other men in the house in the early morning before she died, but she

left Petitioner outside the bedroom door knocking. A jury could find malice in his failure to call the police, instead choosing to go visit his friends, cruise around town, and then lie to the victim's uncle about what happened. A jury could even find malice just based on the physical evidence of her wounds, showing that she had been strangled for so long and so aggressively that her neck was left bruised and the blood vessels in her eyes had ruptured. Evidence that Petitioner acted with malice was pervasive.

Petitioner's trial counsel objected a total of seven times during the State's direct and redirect examination of Officer Denton. (See App. 240 – App. 277). Doing something usual, like objecting to testimony *they themselves had elicited* on cross-examination, would likely draw the jury's eyes to perhaps the most incriminating piece of evidence available: a second confession, signed by Petitioner, stating that he strangled Miranda Aull to death because she would not listen to him. Considering all the evidence, it was reasonable for Petitioner's trial counsel not to object. The PCR court recognized this in denying Petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by the probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.